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INTRODUCTION

Procedural Background

This Initial Decision is filed pursuant to Rule 3.22(e) ofthe Commssion s Rules of

Practice which requires that " ( w Jhen a motion to dismiss a complaint. . . is granted with the result

that the proceeding before the Administrative Law Judge is terminated, the Administrative Law

Judge shall fie an initial decision in accordance with the provisions of 9 3. 51. 16 C.

93.22(e). As set forth below, the motions to dismiss fied by Respondent Union Oil Company of

California ("Respondent" or "Unocal") are granted in part with the result that the proceeding

before the Administrative Law Judge is termnated. Accordingly, this Initial Decision is filed in

accordance with the provisions of Rule 3. 51 of the Commssion s Rules of Practice. 16 C.F.

93. 51(c).

Respondent fied two motions to dismiss pursuant to Rule 3.22(e) of the Commssion

Rules of Practice, on April 2, 2003. The first motion seeks dismissal of the Complaint based upon

immunity under Noerr-Pennington Motion ). Complaint Counsel filed its opposition on April

2003 ("Opposition ). By Order dated August 25 , 2003 , the parties were ordered to file reply

briefs. Respondent filed its reply brief on September 9 , 2003 ("Reply ). Complaint Counsel fied

its response to Respondent's reply brief on September 26 2003 ("Sur-reply

Respondent's second motion seeks dismissal of the Complaint for failure to make

suffcient allegations that Respondent possesses or dangerously threatens to possess monopoly

power ("Market Power Motion ). Complaint Counsel filed its opposition on April 21 , 2003

Market Power Opposition

B. Summary of Decision

As set forth below, there is no set of facts that Complaint Counsel could introduce in

support of the violations of law that are alleged in the Complaint that would overcome Noerr-

Pennington immunity with respect to Respondent's efforts to solicit government action.

Accordingly, Respondent's motion to dismiss the Complaint based upon immunity under Noerr-

Pennington is GRATED IN P ART as to all violations alleged and all allegations of the

Complaint, except the allegations of Respondent's conduct directed toward the Auto/Oil Air

Quality Improvement Research Program ("Auto/Oil Group ) and the Western States Petroleum



Association ("WSP A"), independent of the conduct directed toward the California Air Resources

Board ("CAR"

As set forth below, with respect to the allegations of Respondent's conduct directed

toward Auto/Oil Group and WSPA, independent of the conduct directed toward CAR, there is

no set of facts that Complaint Counsel could introduce in support of the violations oflaw that are

alleged in the Complaint that would establish that the Commssion has jurisdiction to resolve the

substantial patent issues which are entangled in and raised by the allegations and violations of the

Complaint. The motion is GRATED IN PART to the extent that the Commission lacks

jurisdiction to decide the fundamental and substantial patent issues raised by the allegations of the

Complaint. Because of this determination, the remaining issues raised by Respondent's motion to

dismiss for failure to make suffcient allegations that Respondent possesses or dangerously

threatens to possess monopoly power are not reached. Accordingly, the remainder of

Respondent's Market Power Motion is DENID WITHOUT PREJUICE.

Therefore, as discussed in detail below, no allegations or violations of the Complaint

remain and the Complaint in Docket 9305 is dismissed in its entirety.

II. POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

Summary of the Allegations of the Complaint and Answer

1. Complaint

According to the Complaint, in the 1980s, the Californa Air Resources Board ("CAR"
initiated rulemaking proceedings to determine "cost-effective" regulations and standards

governng the composition of low emissions, reformulated gasoline ("RFG"). Complaint at 

The Complaint alleges that, through misrepresentations and omissions, Respondent infuenced the

outcome ofCAR' s Phase 2 reformulated gasoline rulemakng. Complaint at 

48. On November 22, 1991 , CAR adopted Phase 2 RFG regulations that set particular

standards for the composition of low emissions, reformulated gasoline. Complaint at 44.

CAR' s Phase 2 RFG regulations substantially overlap with patents held by Respondent relating

to low emissions, reformulated gasoline. Complaint at , 32, 45.

In addition, the Complaint alleges that during the CAR RFG rulemaking, Respondent



participated in the Auto/Oil Group, a cooperative, joint research program between automobile

and oil industries, and in the WSP A, an oil industry trade association. Complaint at ~~ 50, 56.

The Complaint alleges that Respondent made misrepresentations and material omissions to the

Auto/Oil Group and WSPA and that, but for Respondent' s fraud, these participants in the

rulemaking process would have taken actions including, but not limited to, (a) advocating that

CAR adopt regulations that minimized or avoided inIngement on Respondent's patent claims;

(b) advocating that CAR negotiate license terms substantially different from those that

Respondent was later able to obtain; and/or ( c) incorporating knowledge of Respondent s pending

patent rights in their capital investment and refinery reconfguration decisions to avoid and/or

minimize potential infringement. Complaint at ~ 90.

The Complaint further alleges that Respondent did not announce the existence of its

proprietar interests and patent rights relating to RFG until shortly before CAR' s Phase 2

regulations were to go into effect. Complaint at ~ 6. By that time, the refining industry had spent

bilions of dollars in capital expenditures to modifY their refineries to comply with the CAR
Phase 2 regulations. Id Afer CAR and the refiners had become locked into the Phase 2

regulations, Respondent commenced patent enforcement efforts by publicly announcing its RFG

patent rights and its intention to collect royalty payments and fees. Id Since Respondent's public

anouncement of the issuance of its first RFG patent on Januar 31 , 1995 , Respondent has

obtained four additional patents and enforced its RFG patent rights through litigation and

licensing activities. 

The Complaint charges Respondent with the legal violations of engaging in

anticompetitive and exclusionary practices, whereby, in the markets defined in the Complaint

Respondent has wrongfully obtained monopoly power, has attempted monopolization, and has

unreasonably restrained trade, in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commssion Act

15 U.S.c. 945.

Answer

Respondent' s Answer denied the substantive allegations of the Complaint. In addition

Respondent, in its Answer, asserted that there are two basic underpinnngs of the Complaint



which are unsupportable and eviscerate any viability to the Complaint. First, Respondent avers

that the Complaint implicitly and incorrectly suggests that when the word "non-proprietary" or

proprietar" is used, a representation is made as to the status of patent rights, and that

Respondent s opinion on the flexibility and cost effectiveness of a predictive model is not a

representation on the status of patent rights. Second, Respondent asserts in the introduction to

the Answer, that its conduct is petitioning conduct, immune from antitrust scrutiny.

Summary of Arguments Made Regarding Respondent' s Motion to Dismiss
Based On Noerr-Pennington Immunity

Respondent' s arguments in support

Respondent moves to dismiss the Complaint on the ground that the conduct alleged in the

Complaint is immunized from antitrust liability under the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. See

Eastern RR. Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc. 365 U.S. 127 (1961); United

Mine Workers v. Pennington 381 U.S. 657 (1965). Respondent asserts that CAR, an

administrative agency, exercised quasi-legislative authority in enacting the Phase 2 RFG

regulations. Respondent argues that its involvement in CAR' s Phase 2 RFG rulemaking was

political petitioning conduct, protected under Noerr-Pennington. Thus, Respondent argues

Respondent should be shielded from antitrust liability regardless of its motives or the effects of the

governmental action. Respondent further asserts that the Complaint does not allege facts

suffcient to support the "sham" exception to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. See Professional

Real Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures, Inc. 504 U.S. 49 (1993). In addition

Respondent argues that the exception to Noerr immunity recognized in contexts involving the

enforcement of patent rights obtained through knowing fraud on the Patent and Trademark Offce

is inapplicable to this proceeding. See Walker Process Equipment, Inc. v. FoodMachinery &

Chemical Corp. 382 U.S. 172 (1965).

Respondent also asserts that immunity under the Noerr-Pennington doctrine extends to

causes of action brought under Section 5 of the FTC Act. Finally, Respondent asserts that the

Complaint's allegations that Respondent made misrepresentations to two private bodies , the



Auto/Oil Group and WSPA, do not take Respondent' s activities outside of the realm of Noerr

protected political activities.

Complaint Counsel's arguments in opposition

Complaint Counsel argues first that the motion to dismiss is inappropriate because there

are factual disputes and because the Complaint "specifically alleges" that Noerr-Pennington

immunity does not apply here as a "matter offact." Opposition at 2; Complaint at ~ 96.

Complaint Counsel next argues that Respondent's fraudulent statements were made to an agency

acting in a quasi-adjudicative manner and that misrepresentations are not immunized when made

in an adjudicatory setting or where the agency is dependent upon the petitioner for information.

Complaint Counsel further asserts that Noerr-Pennington immunity does not extend to situations

where the government agency is unaware that it is being asked to adopt or participate in a

restraint of trade.

In addition, Complaint Counsel argues that Respondent's conduct is outside the reach of

Noerr-Pennington because the harm was caused not by CAR' s adoption of the regulations, but

by Respondent's enforcement of its patents. Complaint Counsel also asserts that Respondent's

conduct falls under the sham exception to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine. Next, Complaint

Counsel argues that Noerr does not immunize Respondent's conduct because this action is

brought under the FTC Act, and not the Sherman Act. Finally, Complaint Counsel argues that

Respondent's conduct towards Auto/Oil Group and WSPA, is not shielded by Noerr-Pennington

and states an independent cause of action.

Summary of Arguments Made Regarding Respondent' s Motion to Dismiss
Based On Failure to Make Suffcient Allegations That Respondent Possesses
or Dangerously Threatens to Possess Monopoly Power

Respondent' s arguments in support

Respondent' s motion to dismiss based on failure to make suffcient allegations that

Respondent possesses or dangerously threatens to possess monopoly power raises several issues.

However, the only issues raised by Respondent in that motion that are decided herein are as



follows: whether the allegations of the Complaint arise under patent law; and whether the FTC

has jurisdiction to decide the substantial questions of patent law alleged in the Complaint. The

remaining issues are not reached because the determination on the Noerr-Pennington motion and

the determination of the jurisdictional argument make any analysis of the remaining issues raised

in the Market Power Motion unnecessar.

Respondent argues that the allegations of this Complaint arise under patent law because

they require an inquiry into claim construction and inIngement. Respondent further argues that

jurisdiction to decide issues arising under patent law lies solely with federal courts and that the

Commission does not have jurisdiction to decide the patent issues raised by the Complaint.

Complaint Counsel's arguments in opposition

Complaint Counsel asserts that the allegations of this Complaint do not arise under patent

law. Complaint Counsel further asserts that the Commssion has jurisdiction to decide issues that

touch on patent law.

ID. EVIENTIARY STANDARDS

Motion to Dismiss Standard

Rule 3.22(e) of the Commssion s Rules of Practice authorizes the filing of a motion to

dismiss a complaint. 16 c.F.R. 93.22(e). Although the Commssion s Rules of Practice do not

have a rule identical to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Commission has

acknowledged a party s right to file, and the Administrative Law Judge s authority to rule on, a

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. E.g. , In re Times

Mirror Co. 92 F.T.C. 230 (1978); In re Florida Citrs Mutual 50 F.T.c. 959 961 (1954) (ALJ

may "dismiss a complaint ifin his opinion the facts alleged do not state a cause of action.

Rule 3. 11(b)(2) of the Commssion s Rules of Practice sets forth that the Commssion

complaint shall contain a "clear and concise factual statement suffcient to inform each respondent

with reasonable definiteness of the type of acts or practices alleged to be in violation of the law.

16 C.F.R. 93. 1l(b)(2). This rule requires that the complaint contain "a factual statement

. suffciently clear and concise to inform respondent with reasonable definiteness of the types of



acts or practices alleged to be in violation oflaw, and to enable respondent to frame a responsive

answer. In re New EnglandMotor Rate Bureau, Inc. 1986 FTC LEXIS 5 , *114 (1986). A

motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted is judged by

whether "a review of the complaint clearly shows that the allegations, if proved, are suffcient to

make out a violation of Section 5. In re TK- 7 Corp. 1989 FTC LEXIS 32 , *3 (1989).

For purposes of a motion to dismiss

, "

the factual allegations of the complaint are

presumed to be true and all reasonable inferences are to be made in favor of complaint counsel."

TK- 7 Corp. 1989 FTC LEXIS 32, *3 (citing Miree v. DeKalb County, 433 U.S. 25 , 27 n.

(1977); Jenkins 
v. McKeitchen 395 U.S. 411 , 421-22 (1969)). If the motion to dismiss raises

material issues offact which are in dispute, dismissal is not appropriate. In re Herbert R. Gibson

Sr. 1976 FTC LEXIS 378 , *1 (1976);Jn re Jewell Companies, Inc. 81 FTC. 1034, 1035-

(1972) (denying motion to dismiss where there was a substantial dispute on questions offact).

See also In re College Football Assoc. 1990 FTC LEXIS 485 , *4 (1990) (Where facts are

needed to make determination on a "close question " the motion to dismiss will be denied.

Factual Allegations Accepted as True;
Conclusions of Law Not Accepted as True

The standard used in Commssion proceedings mirrors the standard used for

evaluating motions to dismiss raised in federal district courts under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure. The Supreme Court has held that it "is axiomatic that a complaint

. should not be dismissed unless ' it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set offacts

in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief'" McClain v. Real Estate Bd of New

Orleans, Inc. 444 U.S. 232 246 (1980) (quoting Conley v. Gibson 355 U.S. 41 45-46 (1957)).

Moreover, it is well established that, in ruling on a motion to dismiss, allegations in the complaint

must be accepted as true and construed favorably to the plaintiff Scheuer v. Rhodes 416 U.S.

232 236 (1974). "(IJn antitrust cases, where ' the proofis largely in the hands of the alleged

conspirators ' dismissals prior to giving the plaintiff ample opportunity for discovery should be

granted very sparingly. Hospital Building Co. v. Trustees of Rex Hosp. 425 U.S. 738 , 746

(1976) (quotingPolier v. Columbia Broad 368 U.S. 464, 473 (1962)).



While well-pleaded allegations are taken as admitted

, "

conclusions oflaw and

unreasonable inferences or unwarranted deductions offact are not admitted. Hiland Dairy, Inc.

v. Kroger Co. 402 F.2d 968 973 (8th Cir. 1968); Violanti v. Emery Worldwide A- , 847

F. Supp. 1251 , 1255 (M.D. Pa. 1994) (conclusory allegations oflaw need not be accepted as

true). On motions to dismiss, courts routinely reject allegations that are, or contain, legal

conclusions. E.g., United Mine Workers of America, Inc. v. Wellmore Coal Corp. 609 F.2d

1083 , 1085 (4th Cir. 1979) (allegation that plaintiff acted under color of state law was a legal

conclusion and insuffcient to survive a motion to dismiss); Donaldv. Orfila 618 F. Supp. 645

647 (D. C. 1985) (allegations that offcial acted in bad faith beyond the scope of his authority so

as not to be entitled to immunity were legal conclusions and thus were not admitted for purposes

of a motion to dismiss). "Were it otherwse, Rule 12(b)(6) would serve no function, for its

purpose is to provide a defendant with a mechanism for testing the legal suffciency of the

complaint. United Mine Workers 609 F.2d at 1086.

The Complaint specifically alleges that "Unocal is not shielded from antitrust liability

pursuant to the Noerr-Pennington doctrine for numerous reasons as a matter of law and as a

matter of fact. 

. . .

" (Complaint at ~ 96) (emphasis added). Whether or not Noerr-Pennington

immunity applies to the facts alleged requires a legal conclusion and clearly is a matter oflaw.

See Razorback Ready Mix Concrete Co, Inc. v. Weaver 761 F.2d 484 488 (8th Cir. 1985).

Whether or not an issue is a matter offact or is a matter oflaw is also a legal determnation. 

Mark Aero, Inc. v. Trans World Airlines, Inc. 580 F.2d 288 (8th Cir. 1978), although the

complaint alleged that the agency was an adjudicatory body, the Court of Appeals dismissed the

complaint after finding that defendant's actions , including misrepresentations to the agency and

city council, were genuine political activity. Id at 293 297. In the instant case, paragraph 96 of

the Complaint is not a properly plead factual allegation in so far as it alleges a conclusion oflaw;

it need not be, and is not, taken as true for purposes of Respondent' s motion to dismiss.

Matters Which May Be Considered on a Motion to Dismiss and
For Which Offcial Notice May Be Taken

In ruling on a motion to dismiss, it is appropriate to consider the allegations of the



complaint, as well as documents attached to or specifically referenced in the complaint, and

matters of public record. Hoffan-LaRouche Inc. v. GenPharm, Inc. 50 F. Supp. 2d 367 377

(D.N.J. 1999) (citing Pittsburgh v. West Penn Power Co. 147 F.3d 256, 259 (3d Cir. 1998); SA

Charles A. Wright & Arhur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure 9 1357 at 299 (2d ed.

1990)). The Complaint specifically references California Health and Safety Code 9 43018 and

Californa s Administrative Procedure Act. Complaint at ~~ 17, 18 , 21 , and 26. As set forth

below, it is also appropriate to take offcial notice of the statutes governing CAR, the Notice of

Public Hearing through which CAR initiated the rulemaking, and the Final Statement of Reasons

for Rulemaking, all of which are beyond dispute.

The Commission s Rules of Practice authorize the use of offcial notice. 16 C.F.

9 3 .43( d) ("when any decision of an Administrative Law Judge or of the Commission rests, in

whole or in part, upon the taking of offcial notice of a material fact not appearing in evidence of

record, opportunity to disprove such noticed fact shall be granted any party making timely motion

therefor

). 

Because the Commssion Rule does not define offcial notice, it is appropriate to look

to Federal Rule of Evidence ("F. R. Evid. ) 201(b). "A judicially noticed fact must be one not

subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the terrtorial

jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable or accurate and ready determination by resort to

sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned. " F. R. Evid. 201(b).

Under Commission precedent, offcial notice may be taken of references "generally

accepted as reliable. In re Thompson Medical Co. 104 F.TC. 648 , 790 (1984). The

Commssion and Administrative Law Judges have frequently taken offcial notice of statutes and

regulations. E.g., In re New EnglandMotor Rate Bureau, Inc. 1989 FTC LEXIS 62, *16 n.

(1989) (amendment to New Hampshire statute); In re Great Atlantic Pacifc Tea Co. , 85

F.TC. 601 , 608 (1975) (Trade Regulation Rule); In re Blanton Co. 53 F.TC. 580 588 (1954)

(regulations of the Secretary of Agrculture in the Federal Register).

Federal Rule of Evidence 201 authorizes federal courts to take judicial notice of

adjudicative facts on a motion to dismiss. Zimora v. Alamo Rent- Car, Inc. 111 F.3d 1495

1503 (10th Cir. 1997). This includes taking notice of regulations and statutes. See id at 1504 (to

the extent that plaintiffs allegations conficted with the provisions of the ordinance, plaintiffs



allegations were appropriately rejected or ignored). In Kottle v. Northwest Kidney Centers, 146

3d 1056 (9th Cir. 1988), where the district court relied upon the public records of the

administrative agency in ruling on a motion to dismiss on Noerr-Pennington grounds, the Court

of Appeals held that these records were properly the subject of judicial notice. Id. at 1064 n. 

Moreover, the Commission has taken offcial notice of changes in an agency s amendments to

regulations in determining to dismiss a complaint. In re Marcor Inc. 90 F.TC. 183 , 185 (1977).

Respondent, in its motion, specifically cited to the California Clean Air Act (Cat. Health &

Safety Code 9 39601) and Chapter 3. 5 (commencing with Section 11340) of the Government

Code, and cited to and attached the Notice of Public Hearing through which CAR initiated the

rulemaking and the Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking. Motion at 11- 23 n. , and

Appendices B and D. Complaint Counsel had an opportunity to disprove these statutes and

agency materials of which offcial notice is taken not only through the filing of its Opposition, but

was also provided an additional opportunity when directed to submit additional briefing by Order

dated August 25 2003. These statutes and public documents were relied upon by Respondent

and their veracity and accuracy were not disputed by Complaint Counsel.

Motions To Dismiss Involving Noerr-Pennington

Courts routinely resolve, on a motion to dismiss, the legal issue of whether Noerr-

Pennington immunity shields a defendant. E.g., A. D. Bedell Wholesale Co. v. Philp Morris Inc.

263 F.3d 239 250 (3 Cir. 2001); Baltimore Scrap Corp. v. The David J. Joseph Co. 237 F.

394 396 (4th Cir. 2001); Manistee Town Ctr. v. Glendale 227 F.3d 1090, 1091 (9th Cir. 2000).

In Kottle the court examined, on a motion to dismiss, whether an administrative agency bore

many of the indicia of a true adjudicatory proceeding, such as conducting public hearings

accepting written and oral arguments, issuing written findings after hearing, and whether its

decision was appealable to determne whether the sham exception to Noerr-Pennington applied.

146 F. 3d at 1059. See also Armstrong Surgical Center v. Armstrong CityMem l Hosp. 185 F.3d

154, 163 (3d Cir. 1999) ("On the facts alleged in the complaint, it is also clear that the state

decision makers were disinterested, conducted their own investigation, and aforded all interested

parties an opportunity to set the record straight."). Thus, although other courts have deferred



ruling on whether the Noerr-Pennington doctrine applies until after discovery, , Fox News

Networkv. Time Warner, Inc. 962 F. Supp. 339, 345 (E. Y. 1997);Israelv. Baxter

Laboratories, Inc. 466 F.2d 272 (D.C. Cir. 1972), where, as here, the dispositive issues are legal

there are no facts within reasonable dispute, and the issues can be resolved on a motion to

dismiss, it is appropriate to do so.

Furthermore, courts, in ruling on motions to dismiss based on Noerr-Pennington review

the statutory authority under which an agency is acting to determne whether the conduct

challenged in the complaint occurred in a political setting. For example, in Mark Aero despite

allegations in the complaint that the Aviation Department and the city council were "adjudicatory

bodies " the court, upon reviewing state statutes, concluded that city council' s passage of

ordinances was an exercise oflegislative power. 580 F. 2d at 290. In Metro Cable Co. v. CATV

of Rocliord, Inc. 516 F.2d 220, 228 (7th Cir. 1975), on a motion to dismiss, the court determned

that the city council was a body to which the state had delegated legislative powers, that the

council did not need to compile an evidentiary record through formal proceedings, and that its

members were subject to lobbying and other forms of ex parte infuence, to conclude that the

conduct challenged in the complaint occurred in a political setting. In St. Joseph's Hosp. , Inc. 

Hosp. Corp. of Am. 795 F. 2d 948 955 (11th Cir. 1986), the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh

Circuit reviewed the statute applicable to the State Health Plannng Agency s (SHP A) action in

issuing a certificate of need and found that each application was reviewed individually according

to a process which required consideration of a number of health planning issues, any interested

pary could have submitted information to SHP A in connection with the application, the initial

review was conducted without an evidentiar hearng, the Act provided for a separate review

board to handle any appeals from SHP A decisions, and the review board, at its discretion, could

grant discovery rights prior to conducting a mandatory evidentiar hearing. This analysis led the

court to determine, on a motion to dismiss, that the agency was acting in an adjudicatory manner.

Id. Thus, a determnation of whether CAR was acting in a legislative or adjudicative maner
may properly be made on a motion to dismiss by review of the applicable statutes, as well as the

factual allegations of the Complaint. As discussed below, other issues raised by Respondent's



motions and Complaint Counsel' s responses do not require the resolution of genuine factual

disputes and are properly decided on the motions to dismiss.

Burden of Proof

Noerr-Pennington immunity is not merely an affrmative defense. McGuire Oil Co. 

MAPCO, Inc. 958 F.2d 1552, 1558 n.9 (11th Cir. 1992). "Rather

, '

the antitrust plaintiff has the

burden of establishing that the defendant restrained trade unreasonably, which cannot be done

when the restraining action is that of the government.'" I d (quoting P. Areeda and H.

Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law 9 203.4c). The antitrust plaintiff also bears the burden of proving that

the action of the defendant comes within the sham exception to Noerr-Pennington. Westmac

Inc. v. Smith 797 F.2d 313 , 318 (6th Cir. 1986). Thus, the burden falls on Complaint Counsel to

allege facts suffcient to show that Noerr-Pennington immunity does not attach to Respondent's

actions.

In addition, where jurisdiction is limited to only that power authorized by statute, the

burden of establishing jurisdiction rests upon the party asserting jurisdiction. Kokkonen 

Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am. 511 U. S. 375 , 377 (1994). If a complaint before the Federal

Trade Commission does not allege suffcient facts to confer jurisdiction, it must be dismissed.

In re R.J Reynolds Tobacco Co. , Inc. 111 F. C. 539 541 (1988). Thus, the burden is on

Complaint Counsel to demonstrate that jurisdiction exists over all violations alleged in the

Complaint.

IV. STATEMENT OF FINDINGS

Rule 3.22(e) of the Commssion s Rules of Practice requires that when a motion to dismiss

a complaint is granted with the result that the proceeding before the Administrative Law Judge is

termnated, the Administrative Law Judge shall file an initial decision in accordance with the

provisions of 9 3.51. 16 C.F.R. 9 3 .22( e). Rule 3. 51 (c) requires an initial decision to include a

statement of findings and conclusions and an appropriate rule or order. 16 C.F.R. 93.51(c).

Accordingly, this section sets forth as findings those facts alleged in the Complaint that are taken

as true only for the limited purpose of ruling on both motions to dismiss. Citations to specific



numbered findings offact in this Initial Decision are designated by "

Allegations that are not relevant to the issues decided are not included. As discussed

above (section III.B. supra) argumentative language and allegations that constitute legal

conclusions need not be taken as true and are not included as findings of fact.

As is permtted when ruling on a motion to dismiss, offcial notice may appropriately be

taken oflegislative and public agency materials. (Section III. C. supra). Therefore, this section

also includes excerpts from the Notice of Public Hearing through which CAR initiated the

rulemaking at issue, the Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking, and the statutes governing

CAR , upon which this order granting the motion to dismiss on Noerr-Pennington grounds and

the Initial Decision are based. The Notice of Public Hearing and the Final Statement of Reasons

for Rulemaking are Appendices Band D to Respondent's motion for dismissal based on Noerr-

Pennington available at ww. ftc. gov/os/adipro/d9305/index.htm.

Facts As Alleged in the Complaint

Respondent

1. Union Oil Company of California is a public corporation organized, existing, and doing
business under, and by virtue of, the laws of Californa. Its offce and principal place of business
is located at 2141 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 4000, EI Segundo, Californa 90245. Since 1985
Union Oil Company of California has done business under the name "Unocal." Unocal is a
wholly-owned, operating subsidiary ofUnocal Corporation, a holding company incorporated in
Delaware. Complaint at ~ 11.

2. Unocal is, and at all relevant times has been, a corporation as "corporation" is defined
by Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commssion Act, 15 C. 944; and at all times relevant
herein, Unocal has been, and is now, engaged in commerce as "commerce" is defined in the same
provision. Complaint at ~ 12.

3. Prior to 1997, Unocal owned and operated refineries in California as a vertically
integrated producer, refiner, and marketer of petroleum products. In March 1997, Unocal
completed the sale of its west coast refining, marketing, and transportation assets to Tosco
Corporation. Currently, Unocal' s primary business activities involve oil and gas exploration and
production, as well as production of geothermal energy, ownership in proprietar and common
carrer pipelines, natural gas storage facilities, and the marketing and trading of hydrocarbon
commodities. Complaint at ~ 13.



4. In its annual report for the year 2001 fied with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commssion, Form 1O- , Unocal lists as another of its key business activities:

(p Jursuing and negotiating licensing agreements for reformulated gasoline patents with refiners
blenders and importers." Unocal has publicly announced that it expects to earn up to $150 millon
in revenues a year from licensing its RFG patents. Complaint at ~ 14.

Respondent' s patents

5. Unocal is the owner, by assignment, of the following patents relating to low emissions
reformulated gasoline: United States Patent No. 5 288 393 (issued February 22, 1994); United
States Patent No. 5 593 567 (issued January 14, 1997); United States Patent No. 5 653 866
(issued August 5 , 1997); United States Patent No. 5 837,126 (issued November 17, 1998); and
United States Patent No. 6 030 521 (issued February 29 2000). Complaint at ~ 15.

6. On May 13 , 1990, Unocal scientists presented the preliminar research results of their
emissions research program to the highest levels ofUnocal' s management to obtain approval and
funding for additional, confirmatory research. Unocal' s management approved funding for
additional emissions testing, and this project became known as the "5/14 Project." Complaint
at ~ 29.

7. Unocal' s management approved the filing of a patent application covering the invention
and discovery that sprang from the 5/14 Project. Specifically, the Unocal scientists ' novel
discovery of the directional relationships between eight fuel properties - RVP, TI0, T50, T90
olefin content, aromatic content, paraffn content, and octane - and three types of tailpipe
emissions - incompletely burned or unburned hydrocarbons, carbon monoxide, and nitrogen
oxides. Complaint at ~ 30.

8. On December 13 , 1990, Unocal filed with the United States Patent and Trademark
Offce a patent application, No. 07/628 488. This application presented Unocal's emissions
research results, including the regression equations and underlying data; detailed the directional
relationships between the fuel properties and emissions studied in Unocal' s 5/14 Project; and set
forth composition and method claims relating to low emissions, reformulated gasoline. Complaint
at ~ 32.

California Air Resources Board CARB"

9. The Californa Air Resources Board ("CAR") is a department of the California
Environmental Protection Agency. Established in 1967, CAR' s mission is to protect the health
welfare, and ecological resources of Californa through the effective and effcient reduction of air
pollutants, while recognizing and considering the effects of its actions on the California economy.
CAR fulfills the mandate by, among other things, setting and enforcing standards for low
emissions, reformulated gasoline. Complaint at ~ 16.



Reformulated gasoline in California

10. CAR initiated rulemaking proceedings in the late 1980s to determine "cost-
effective" regulations and standards governng the composition oflow emissions, reformulated
gasoline. Unocal actively participated in the CAR RFG rulemaking proceedings. Complaint
at ~ 1.

11. CAR' s RFG regulations had their genesis in an effort by Californa to study the
viability of alternative fuels for motor vehicles, such as methanol. In 1987, the California
legislature passed AB 234, which resulted in the formation of a panel to study the environmental
impact of alternative fuels and to develop a proposal to reduce emissions. This panel included
representatives from the refining industry, including Roger Beach, a high level Unocal executive
who later became the Chief Executive Offcer and Chairman of the Board ofUnocal. Complaint
at ~ 19.

12. Based in substantial part on the representations of oil industry executives that the oil
industry could, and would develop gasoline that would be cleaner-burning and cheaper than
methanol , the AB 234 study panel recommended exploring reformulated gasoline as an alternative
to methanol. Complaint at ~ 20.

13. In late 1988, the California legislature amended the California Clean Air Act to
require CAR to take actions to reduce harmful car emissions, and directed CAR to achieve this
goal through the adoption of new standards for automobile fuels and low emission vehicles.
CAR' s legislative mandate, set forth in Californa Health and Safety Code Section 43018
provided inter alia that CAR undertake the following actions:

Take "necessary, cost-effective, and technologically feasible
actions to achieve "reduction in the actual emissions of reactive
organic gases of at least 55 percent, a reduction in emissions of
oxides of nitrogen of at least 15 percent from motor vehicles" no
later than December 31 , 2000;

Take actions "to achieve the maximum feasible reduction in
particulates, carbon monoxide, and toxic air contaminants from
vehicular sources

Adopt standards and regulations that would result in "the most
cost-effective combination of control measures on all classes of
motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuels" including the "specification
of vehicular fuel composition.

Complaint at ~ 21.



14. Following the 1998 Californa Clean Air Act amendments, CAR embarked on two
rulemaking proceedings relating to low emissions, reformulated gasoline. In these rulemaking
proceedings - Phase 1 and Phase 2 - CAR prescribed limits on specific gasoline properties.
Complaint at ~ 22.

15. CAR ' s Phase 2 RFG proceedings represented an effort by CAR to develop
stringent standards for low emissions, reformulated gasoline. Participants to the Phase 2 RFG
proceedings understood that the CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations would require refiners to make
substantial capital investments to reconfgure their refineries to produce compliant gasoline.
Complaint at ~ 24.

16. In its Phase 2 RFG proceedings, CAR did not conduct any independent studies of its
own, but relied on the industry to provide research and information. Complaint at ~ 25.

17. In the course of CAR' s Phase 2 RFG proceedings, CAR adhered to the
procedures set forth in the Californa Administrative Procedure Act. CARprovided notice of
proposed regulations; provided the language of these proposed regulations and a statement of
reasons; solicited and accepted written comments from the public; and conducted lengthy hearings
at which oral testimony was received. CAR also issued written findings on the results of its
rulemaking proceedings. Following adoption of the regulations, several parties sought judicial
review of the CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations that provided small refiners with a two-year
exemption for compliance with the regulations. Complaint at ~ 26.

Unocal' s conduct before CARB

18. Prior to and after the filing of the patent application on December 13 , 1990, Unocal
employees and management discussed and considered the potential competitive advantage and
corporate profit that could be gained through effectuating an overlap between the CAR
regulations and Unocal' s patent claims. Complaint at ~ 33.

19. During the same time that Unocal paricipated in the CAR RFG rulemaking
proceedings, specific discussions took place within the company concernng how to induce the
regulators to use information supplied by Unocal so that Unocal could realize the licensing
income potential of its pending patent claims. Complaint at ~ 34.

20. Beginning in 1990, and continuing throughout the CAR Phase 2 RFG rulemaking
process, Unocal provided information to CAR for the purpose of obtaining competitive
advantage. Unocal gave CAR this information in private meetings with CAR, through
participation in CAR' s public workshops and hearings, as well as by participating in industry
groups that also were providing input into the CAR regulations. Unocal suppressed facts
relating to its proprietary interests in its emissions research results. Complaint at ~ 35.



21. On June 11 , 1991 , CAR held a public workshop regarding the Phase 2 RFG
regulations. This workshop included discussions of CAR staffs proposed gasoline
specifications - the levels at which certain gasoline properties should be set - to reduce the
emissions from gasoline-fueled vehicles. The set of specifications proposed by CAR for
discussion at this workshop did not include a T50 specification. Complaint at ~ 36.

22. On June 20, 1991 , Unocal presented to CAR staf the results of its 5/14 Project to
show CAR that "cost-effective" regulations could be achieved through adoption of a "predictive
model" and to convince CAR of the importance ofT50. Unocal' s pending patent application
contained numerous claims that included T50 as a critical limitation, in addition to other fuel
properties that CAR proposed to regulate. Complaint at ~ 37.

23. Prior to the presentation to CAR , Unocal' s management decided not to disclose
Unocal' s pending ' 393 patent application to CAR staff Complaint at ~ 38.

24. On July 1 , 1991 , Unocal provided CAR with the actual emissions prediction
equations developed in the 5/14 Project. Unocal requested that CAR "hold these equations
confdential, as we feel that they may present a competitive advantage in the production of
gasoline." But Unocal went on to state: "IfCAR pursues a meaningful dialogue on a predictive
model approach to Phase 2 gasoline, Unocal will consider making the equations and underlying
data public as required to assist in the development of a predictive modeL" Complaint at ~ 39.

25. Following CAR' s agreement to develop a predictive model, Unocal made its
emissions results, including the test data and equations underlying its 5/14 Project, publicly
available. Complaint at ~ 40.

26. On August 27, 1991 , Unocal stated in a letter to CAR that its emissions research
data were "nonproprietary. Specifically, Unocal stated: "Please be advised that Unocal now
considers this data to be nonproprietary and available to CAR, environmental interests, groups
other members of the petroleum industry, and the general public upon request." Complaint
at ~ 41.

27. At the time Unocal submitted its August 27, 1991 letter to CAR, it did not disclose
to CAR its proprietary interests in the 5/14 Project data and equations, its prosecution of a
patent application, or its intent to enforce its proprietary interests to obtain licensing income.
Complaint at ~ 42.

28. CAR used Unocal' s equations in setting a T50 specification. Subsequently, in
October 1991 , CAR published Unocal' s equations in public documents supporting the proposed
Phase 2 RFG regulations. Complaint at ~ 43.

29. On November 22, 1991 , the CAR Board adopted Phase 2 RFG regulations that set
particular standards for the composition of low emissions, reformulated gasoline. These



regulations specified limits for eight gasoline properties: RVP, benzene, sulfur, aromatics, olefins
oxygen, T50, and T90. Unocal' s pending patent claims recited limits for five of the eight
properties specified by the regulations: T50, T90 , olefins, aromatics, and RVP. Complaint
at ~ 44.

30. The Phase 2 RFG regulations substantially overlapped with Unocal' s patent claims.
For example, CAR included a specification for T50 in its Phase 2 RFG regulations and
eventually adopted a "predictive model" that included T50 as one of the parameters. Complaint
at ~ 45.

31. Although Unocal knew by July 1992 that most of the pending patent claims based on
its emissions research had been allowed by the United States Patent and Trademark Offce
Unocal did not disclose this material information to CAR and other participants in the CAR
RFG proceedings. Complaint at ~ 

32. Prior to the final approval of the CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations in November 1992
Unocal submitted comments and presented testimony to CAR opposing CAR' s proposal to
grant small refiners a two-year exemption for complying with the regulations. Unocal opposed
this proposed exemption on the grounds that it would increase the costs of compliance and
undermine the cost-effectiveness of the CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations. In making these
statements, Unocal didnot disclose that it had proprietary rights that would materially increase
the cost and reduce the cost-effectiveness and flexibility of the regulations that CAR had
adopted. Complaint at ~ 46.

33. CAR amended the Phase 2 regulations in June 1994 to include a predictive model as
an alternative method of complying with the regulations that was intended to provide refiners with
additional flexibility. At the urging of numerous companies, including Unocal, this "predictive
model" permits a refiner to comply with the RFG regulations by producing fuel that is predicted -
based on its composition and the levels of the eight properties - to have equivalent emissions to a
fuel that meets the strict gasoline property limits set forth in the regulations. Complaint at ~ 47.

34. During the development of the predictive model, Unocal continued to meet with
CAR, providing testimony and information. Unocal submitted comments to CAR touting the
predictive model as offering "flexibility" and furthering CAR' s mandate of "cost-effective
regulations. Complaint at ~ 48.

35. Unocal made statements and comments to CAR relating to the "cost effectiveness
of CAR Phase 2 regulations, and the "flexibility" offered by the implementation of a predictive
model to reduce refiner compliance costs. These statements and comments include, but are not
limited to, both wrtten and/or oral statements made to CAR on the following dates: October

, 1991 , November 21 , 1991 , November 22, 1991 , March 16, 1992, June 19, 1992, August 14
1992, September 4, 1992, June 3 , 1994 and June 9, 1994. Complaint at ~ 78.



36. Throughout its communications and interactions with CAR prior to January 31
1995 , Unocal did not disclose that it had pending patent rights, that its patent claims overlapped
with the proposed RFG regulations, and that Unocal intended to charge royalties. Complaint
at ~ 79.

37. On February 22, 1994, the United States Patent Offce issued the ' 393 patent. CAR
first became aware ofUnocal's ' 393 patent shortly after Unocal' s issuance of a press release on
January 31 , 1995. Complaint at ~ 49.

Unocal' s participation in industry groups

38. During the CAR RFG rulemaking, Unocal actively participated in the Auto/Oil Air
Quality Improvement Research Program ("Auto/Oil Group ), a cooperative, joint research
program between the automobile and oil industries. By agreement dated October 14, 1989, the
big three domestic automobile manufacturers - General Motors, Ford , and Chrsler - and
representatives from fourteen oil companies, including Unocal, entered into a joint research
agreement in accordance with the National Cooperative Research Act of 1984 ("Auto/Oil
Agreement"). Complaint at ~ 50.

39. The stated objective of the Auto/Oil joint research venture was to plan and car out
research and tests designed to measure and evaluate automobile emissions and the potential
improvements in air quality achievable through the use of reformulated gasolines, methanol, and
other alternative fuels, and to evaluate the relative cost-effectiveness of these various
improvements. Complaint at ~ 51.

40. The Auto/Oil Agreement provided that " (tJhe results of research and testing of the
Program will be disclosed to government agencies, the Congress and the public, and otherwise
placed in the public domain." This agreement specifically provided for the following dedication of
any and all intellectual property rights to the public: "No proprietary rights wil be sought nor
patent applications prosecuted on the basis of the work of the Program unless required for the
purpose of ensuring that the results of the research by the Program will be freely available
without royalty, in the public domain." Complaint at ~ 52.

41. While the Auto/Oil Agreement permitted participating companies to conduct
independent research, and further permitted them to withhold the ffits of such independent
research from the Auto/Oil Group, once data and information were in fact presented to the
Auto/Oil Group, they became the "work of the Program." Complaint at ~ 53.

42. On September 26, 1991 , Unocal presented to the Auto/Oil Group the results of
Unocal' s emissions research, including the test data, equations, and corresponding directional
relationships between fuel properties and emissions derived from the 5/14 Project. Unocal'
management authorized this presentation, which was substantially similar to that made to CAR
on June 20, 1991. Unocal informed Auto/Oil participants that the data had been made available



to CAR and were in the public domain. Unocal also represented that the data would be made
available to Auto/Oil participants. Complaint at ~ 55. Unocal failed to disclose Unocal'
proprietary interests in its emissions research results and Unocal' s intention and efforts to enforce
its intellectual property rights. Complaint at ~ 82.

43. Throughout all of its communications and interactions with the Auto/Oil Group prior
toJanuary 31 , 1995 , Unocal failed to disclose that it had pending patent rights, that its patent
claims overlapped with the proposed RFG regulations, and that Unocal intended to charge
royalties. Complaint at ~ 83.

44. During the CAR Phase 2 RFG rulemaking proceedings, Unocal also actively
participated in the Western States Petroleum Association ("WSPA"), an oil industry trade
association that represents companies accounting for the bulk of petroleum exploration
production, refining, transportation and marketing in the western United States. WSP A, as a
group, actively paricipated in the CAR RFG rulemaking process. WSP A commissioned, and
submitted to CAR , three cost studies in connection with the CAR Phase 2 RFG rulemaking.
Complaint at 56.

45. One cost study commissioned by WSPA incorporated information relating to process
royalty rates associated with non-Unocal patents and was used by CAR to determine the cost'"
effectiveness of the proposed CAR Phase 2 RFG standards. This WSP A cost study estimated
the costs oft e proposed regulations on a cents-per-gallon basis and estimated the incremental
costs associated with regulating specific gasoline properties. This WSP A study could have
incorporated costs associated with potential royalties flowing from Unocal' s pending patent
rights. Complaint at ~ 57.

46. On September 10, 1991 , Unocal presented its 5/14 Project emissions research results
to WSPA. .Unocal' s management authorized the presentation of the research results to WSPA.
This Unocal presentation created the impression that Unocal' s emissions research results
including the data and equations, were nonproprietary and could be used by WSP A or its
individual members without concern for the existence or enforcement of any intellectual property
rights. Complaint at ~ 58.

47. Throughout all of its cOmIunications and interactions with WSPA prior to January
, 1995 , Unocal failed to disclose that it had pending patent rights, that its patent claims

overlapped with the proposed RFG regulations, and that Unocal intended to charge royalties.
Complaint at ~ 88.

48. None of the participants in the WSPA or Auto/Oil Group knew of the existence of
Unocal's proprietary interests and/or pending patent rights at any time prior to the issuance of the
393 patent in February 1994, by which time most, if not all, of the oil company paricipants to

these groups had made substantial progress in their capital investment and refinery modifications
plans for compliance with the CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations. Complaint at ~ 59.



Unocal' s patent prosecution and enforcement

49. Following the November 1991 adoption ofCAR Phase 2 RFG specifications
Unocal amended its patent claims in March 1992 so that the patent claims more closely matched
the regulations. In some cases, Unocal' s patent claims were narrowed to resemble the
regulations. Complaint at ~ 60.

50. On or about July 1 , 1992, Unocal received an offce action from the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Offce indicating that most ofUnocal' s pending patent claims had been allowed.
Unocal did not disclose this information to CAR or other participants to the CAR Phase 2
RFG rulemaking. Complaint at ~ 61.

51. Subsequently, after the submission of additional amendments, Unocal received a
notice of allowance from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Offce for all of its pending claims in
February 1993. Unocal did not disclose this information to CAR or other participants to the
CAR Phase 2 RFG rulemaking. Complaint at ~ 62.

52. In June 1993 , Unocal filed a divisional application (No. 08/77 243) of its original
patent application that allowed Unocal to pursue additional patents based on the discoveries of
the 5/14 Project. Complaint at ~ 63.

53. The U.S. Patent and Trademark Offce issued the ' 393 patent to Unocal on February
, 1994. On January 31 , 1995 , Unocal issued a press release announcing issuance of the ' 393

patent. The Unocal press release stated that the ' 393 patent "covers many of the possible fuel
compositions that refiners would find practical to manufacture and still comply with the strict
Californa Air Resources Board (CAR) Phase 2 requirements." Complaint at ~ 64.

54. In March 1995 , Unocal met separately with Californa Governor Pete Wilson and
CAR and made assurances that Unocal would not enjoin or otherwise impair the ability of
refiners to produce and supply to the Californa market gasoline that complied with the CAR
Phase 2 RFG regulations. In or about the same time period, CAR expressed its own concern to
Unocal about the coverage of the patent and even sought and received from Unocal a license to
use the ' 393 patent in making and using test fuels. Complaint at ~ 65.

55. On March 22, 1995 , five days after meeting with CAR staff Unocal fied a
continuation patent application (No. 08/409/074) claiming priority to the original December 1990
application. Unocal did not inform CAR or Governor Wilson that it intended to obtain
additional RFG patents. Complaint at ~ 66.

56. Unocal subsequently filed additional continuation patent applications on June 5, 1995
(No. 08/464 544), August 1 , 1997 (No. 08/904 594), and November 13 , 1998 (No. 08/191 924),



all claiming priority based on Unocal' s original December 13 , 1990 patent application. Complaint
at ~ 67.

57. On April 13 , 1995 , ARCO, Exxon, Mobil, Chevron, Texaco, and Shell filed suit in the
United States District Court for the Central District of California seeking to invalidate Unocal'
393 patent. Unocal fied a counterclaim for patent infingement of the ' 393 patent. The jury in

this private litigation determned that Unocal's ' 393 patent was valid and infringed, and found that
the refiners must pay a royalty rate of 5. 75 cents per gallon for the period from March through
July 1996 for sales of infringing gasoline in Californa. Complaint at ~ 68.

58. The United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit subsequently affrmed the
trial court' s judgment. The United States Supreme Court denied the refiner-defendants ' petition
for a writ of certiorari. The refiner-defendants have made payments totaling $91 millon to
Unocal for damages, costs, and attorneys ' fees. Complaint at ~ 69.

59. An accounting action is still ongoing in the United States District Court for the
Central District of California to determine damages for infringement of the ' 393 patent by the
refiners for the period from August 1 , 1996, through December 31 , 2000. The court ruled in
August 2002 that the 5.75 cents per gallon royalty fee awarded by the jury would apply to all
infringing gasoline produced and/or supplied in Californa. Complaint at ~ 70.

60. On January 23 2002 , Unocal sued Valero Energy Company in the Central District of
California for willful inIngement of both the ' 393 patent and the ' 126 patent. In its complaint
Unocal seeks damages at the rate of5.75 cents per gallon for all infnging gallons, and treble
damages for wilful infungement. Complaint at ,- 71.

61. Unocal also has enforced its patent claims through licensing activities. To date
Unocal has entered into license agreements with eight refiners, blenders and/or importers covering
the use of all five RFG patents. The terms of these license agreements are confdential. Unocal
has announced that these license agreements feature a "uniform" licensing schedule that specifies
a range from 1. 2 to 3.4 cents per gallon depending on the volume of gasoline fallng within the
scope of the patents. As a licensee practices under the license more frequently, the licensing fee
per gallon is reduced. Complaint at ~ 72.

62. Refiners in California invested billions of dollars in sunk capital investments without
knowledge ofUnocal's patent claims to reconfigure their refineries in order to comply with the
CAR Phase 2 RFG regulations. These refiners cannot produce significant volumes on non-
infinging CAR-compliant gasoline without incurrng substantial costs. Complaint at ~ 93.

63. Were Unocal to receive a 5. 75 cents per gallon royalty on all gallons of "summer-
time" CAR RFG produced annually for the California market, this would result in an estimated
annual cost of more than $500 million (assuming approximately 14.8 billon gallons per year



Californa consumption, with up to 8 months ofCAR summer-time gasoline requirements).
Complaint at ~ 10.

Legislative and Agency Materials of Which Offcial Notice is Taken

Notice of Public Hearing

64. CAR issued its Notice of Public Hearing to Consider Adoption of and Amendments
to Regulations Regarding Reformulated Gasoline (phase 2 Gasoline Specifcations), and the
Wintertime Oxygen Content of Gasoline on September 24, 1991

, ("

Notice of Public Hearing ) in
connection with the Phase 2 regulations. Notice of Public Hearing, p.

65. The Notice of Public Hearing states that the Air Resources Board ("the Board") will
conduct a public hearing to consider the adoption of and amendments to regulations to establish
more stringent gasoline specifications for Reid vapor pressure ("R VP"), distillation temperatures
and sulfur, benzene, olefin, oxygen and aromatic hydrocarbon content starting in 1996. Notice 
Public Hearing, p. 1.

66. The Notice of Public Hearing states that the Board staffhas prepared a Staff Report
for the proposed Phase 2 reformulated gasoline proposal that is available to the public. Notice of
Public Hearing, p. 6.

67. The Notice of Public Hearing states that based on cost data submitted to the Board
the staff has determned that the regulations wil cost between 14 cents per gallon to 20 cents per
gallon, if the entire cost is passed on to the consumer. The total capital investment costs to the
refiners are estimated to be in the range of four to seven bilion dollars. Notice of Public Hearing,

68. The Notice of Public Hearing states that the staff estimates that implementation of
Phase 2 specifications will result in ozone precursor emission reductions of about 190 tons per
day in 1996. Emissions of CO will be reduced by about 1300 tons per day and sulfur oxides by 40
tons per day. Other Phase 2 specifications wil also result in reduced toxic emissions. Notice 
Public Hearing, p. 7.

69. The Notice of Public Hearing states that the staff is conducting an independent cost
analysis using the Process Industry Modeling System refinery model. Notice of Public Hearing,

70. The Notice of Public Hearing states that before taking final action on the proposed
regulatory action, the Board must determine that no alternative considered by the agency would
be more effective in carryng out the purpose for which the action is proposed or would be as
effective and less burdensome to affected private persons than the proposed action. Notice of
Public Hearing, pp. 7-



71. The Notice of Public Hearing states that the public may present comments relating to
this matter orally or in writing. The Board encourages members of the public to bring to the
attention of staf in advance of the hearing any suggestions for modification of the proposed
regulatory action. Notice of Public Hearing, p. 8.

Final Statement of Reasons For Rulemaking

72. The California Air Resources Board issued its Final Statement of Reasons for
Rulemaking, Including Summary of Comments and Agency Response relating to the public
hearing to consider the adoption and amendments to Phase 2 gasoline specifications held on
November 21- , 1991. ("Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking

73. Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking states: " (t)he statutes do not mandate
what specific fuel characteristics must be controlled, how stringent those controls should be, what
the compliance dates should be, to whom the controls should apply, whether the limits should be
statewide or limited to areas with substantial air pollution problems, whether the limits should
apply year-round or only during seasons with bad air qllality, whether all batches offuel should be
subject to the same limit or an ' averaging ' program of some sort should be instituted , how the
controls should be enforced, and whether there should be provisions granting temporary
variances ' based on unforeseen unique events. " Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking,
p. 190.

74. The Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking states that the Board conducted a
hearing at which it received oral and written comments on the regulatory proposals. Final
Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking, p. 1.

75. The Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemakng states that the staff conducted an
informal public workshop on October 14, 1991 to discuss the Phase 2 RFG regulatory proposal.
Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking, p. 17, n.

76. The Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking contains a summary of the comments
the Board received on the Phase 2 RFG regulations during the formal rulernaking process and the
Board' s responses to the comments. Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking, p. 3.

77. An attachment to the Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking shows that 51
entities, including automobile companies, assemblymen, business associations, chemical
companies, environmental associations, forestry associations, labor unions, oil companies
petroleum associations, refiners ' associations , and trucking associations, all provided comments to
the Board during the formal rulemaking process. Final Statement of Reasons for Rulemaking,
pp. A- I - A-



Statutory authority under which CARB' s regulations were adopted

78. The Notice of Public Hearing states that CAR' s regulatory action is proposed under
that authority granted in sections 39600 39601 43013 43018, and 43101 of the Health and
Safety Code and Western Oil and Gas Ass v. Orange County Air Poliution Control District, 14
Cal. 3d411 , 121 Cal. Rprt. 249 (1975). Notice of Public Hearing, p. 8.

79. CAR also has the authority to conduct adjudicatory hearings. The procedures for
hearings can be found at Cal. Code Regs. tit. 179960040-60053. The provisions of this article
do .pot apply to review of decisions related to programs or actions of air pollution control or air
quality management districts. CaI. Health & Safety Code 9 60040.

80. The Notice of Public Hearing does not state that CAR' s regulatory action is
proposed under the authority granted in sections 60040-60053 of the Health and Safety Code.
Notice of Public Hearing, p. 8.

81. Section 39600 of the Health and Safety Code states: The state board shall do such
acts as may be necessary for the proper execution of the powers and duties granted to, and
imposed upon, the state board by this division and by any other provision of.aw. Cal. Health &
Safety Code 9 39600.

82. Section 39601 of the Health and Safety Code states, in part:
(a) The state board shall adopt standards, rules, and regulations in accordance with the

provisions of Chapter 3. 5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of
the Government Code, necessary for the proper execution of the powers and duties granted to
and imposed upon, the state board by this division and by any other provision oflaw . . . ;

(c) The standards, rules, and regulations adopted pursuant to this section shall, to the
extent consistent with the responsibilities imposed under this division, be consistent with the state
goal of providing a decent home and suitable living environment for every Californian. Cal.
Health & Safety Code 9 39601.

83. Section 43013 of the Health and Safety Code states, in part:
(a) The state board may adopt and implement motor vehicle emission standards, in-use

performance standards, and motor vehicle fuel specifications for the control of air contaminants
and sources of air pollution which the state board has found to be necessary, cost-effective, and
technologically feasible, to carr out the purposes of this division, unless preempted by federal
law... 

( e) Prior to adopting or amending any standard or regulation relating to motor vehicle
fuel specifications pursuant to this section, the state board shall, after consultation with public or
private entities that would be significantly impacted. . . do both of the following:

(1) Determne the cost-effectiveness of the adoption or amendment of the
standard or regulation. The cost-effectiveness shall be compared on an incremental basis with
other mobile source control methods and options.



(2) Based on a preponderance of scientific and engineering data in the record
determne the technological feasibility of the adoption or amendment of the standard or
regulation. . . .

(f) Prior to adopting or amending any motor vehicle fuel specification pursuant to this 
section, the state board shall do both of the following:

(1) To the extent feasible, quantitatively document the significant impacts of the
proposed standard or specification on affected segments of the state s economy. The economic
analysis shall include, but is not limited to, the significant impacts of any change on motor vehicle
fuel effciency, the existing motor vehicle fuel distribution system, the competitive position of the
affected segment relative to border states, and the cost to consumers.

(2) Consult with public or private entities that would be significantly impacted to
identifY those investigative or preventive actions that may be necessary to ensure consumer
acceptance, product availability, acceptable performance, and equipment reliability. The
significantly impacted parties shall include, but are not limited to, fuel manufacturers, fuel
distributors, independent marketers, vehicle manufacturers, and fuel users. Cal. Health & Safety
Code 9 43013.

84. Section 43018 ofthe Health and Safety Code states, in part:
(a) The state board shall endeavor to achieve the maximum degree of emission reduction

possible from vehicular and other mobile sources in order to accomplish the attainment of the
state standards at the earliest practicable date.

(b) Not later than January 1 , 1992, the state board shall take whatever actions are
necessary, cost-effective, and technologically feasible in order to achieve, not later than December

, 2000, a reduction in the actual emissions of reactive organic gases of at least 55 percent, a
reduction in emissions of oxides of nitrogen of at least 15 percent from motor vehicles. These
reductions in emissions sha l be calculated with respect to the 1987 baseline year. The state board
also shall take action to achieve the maximum feasible reductions in particulates, carbon
monoxide, and toxic air contaminants from vehicular sources.

( c) In carrng out this section, the state board shall adopt standards and regulations
which will result in the most cost-effective combination of control measures on all classes of
motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuel, including, but not limited to, all of the following:

(1) Reductions in motor vehicle exhaust and evaporative emissions.
(2) Reductions in emissions from in-use emissions from motor vehicles through

improvements in emission system durability and performance.
(3) Requiring the purchase oflow emission vehicles by state fleet operators.
(4) Specification of vehicular fuel composition.

(d) In order to accomplish the purposes of this division, and to ensure timely approval of
the district's plans for attainment of the state air quality standards by the state board, the state
board shall adopt the following schedule for workshops and hearings to consider the adoption 
the standards and regulations required pursuant to this section:

(1) Workshops on the adoption of vehicular fuel specifications for aromatic
content, diesel fuel quality, light-duty vehicle exhaust emission standards, and revisions to the
standards for new vehicle certification and durability to reflect current driving conditions and



useful vehicle life shall be held not later than March 31 , 1989. . . .
(2) Notwithstanding Section 43830, workshops on the adoption of regulations

governng gasoline Reid vapor pressure, and standards for heavy-duty and medium-duty vehicle
emissions, shall be held not later than January 31 , 1990. . . .

(3) Workshops on the adoption of regulations governing detergent content
emissions from off-highway vehicles, vehicle fuel composition, emissions from construction
equipment and farm equipment, motorcycles, locomotives, utility engines, and to the extent
permitted by federal law, marine vessels, shall be held not later than January 31 , 1991. . . .

(e) Prior to adopting standards and regulations pursuant to this section, the state board
shall consider the effect of the standards and regulations on the economy of the state, including,
but not limited to, motor vehicle fuel effciency. . . . Cal. Health & Safety Code 9 43018.

85. Section 43101 ofthe Health and Safety Code states: The state board shall adopt and
. implement emission standards for new motor vehicles for the control of emissions therefrom
which standards the state board has found to be necessary and technologically feasible to carr
out the purposes of this division. Prior to adopting such standards, the state board shall consider
the impact of such standards on the economy of the state, including, but not limited to, their effect
on motor vehicle fuel effciency. The state board shall submit a report of its findings on which the
standards are based to the Legislature within 30 days of adoption of the standards. Such
standards may be applicable to motor vehicle engines, rather than to motor vehicles. Cal. Health
& Safety Code 943101. 

California Administrative Procedure Act

86. The Notice of Public Hearing and Cal. Health & Safety Code 9 39601 state that
CAR' s public hearng and adoption of regulations shall be conducted in accordance with the
California Administrative Procedure Act, Title 2, Division 3, Part 1 , Chapter 3. 5 (commencing
with section 11340) of the Government Code ("California APA"l Notice of Public Hearing, p. 8;
Cal. Health & Safety Code 9 39601.

87. Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code governs state departments and
agencies within the executive deparment. Cal. Gov t. Code, Part 1 , Division 3. Chapter 3. 5 is
entitled "Administrative Regulations and Rulemaking." Cal. Gov t. Code, Part 1 , Division 3
Chapter 3. 5. Chapter 3.5 encompasses Sections 11340 through 113 51. 

88. Section 11340. 1 of the Californa AP A declares the intent to establish an Offce 
Administrative Law which is charged with reviewing adopted regulations for the purpose 
reducing the number of regulations and to improve the quality of those regulations adopted. It is
the intent of the Legislature that neither the Offce of Administrative Law nor the court should
substitute its judgment for that of the rulemaking agency. Cal. Gov t Code 9 11340.

89. Section 11342 of the Californa APA defines "regulation" as every rule, regulation
order, or standard of general application. Cal. Gov t Code 9 11342.



90. Section 11346 of the California AP A states:
(a) It is the purpose of this chapter to establish basic minimum procedural requirements

for the adoption, amendment, or repeal of administrative regulations. Except as provided in
Section 11346. , the provisions of this chapter are applicable to the exercise of any quasi-
legislative power conferred by any statute heretofore or hereafter enacted. . .

(b) An agency that is considering adopting, amending, or repealing a regulation may
consult with interested persons before initiating regulatory action pursuant to this article. Cal.
Gov t Code 9 11346.

91. Section 11346.3 of the California APA states:
(a) State agencies proposing to adopt. . . any administrative regulation shall assess the

potential for adverse economic impact on California business enterprises and individuals. Cal.
Gov t Code 9 11346.

92. Section 11346.4 of the Californa APA requires notice of the proposed action prior to
hearing and close of the public comment period. CaI. Gov t Code 9 11346.4.

93. Section 11346.45 of the California APA requires agencies proposing to adopt
regulations to involve parties who would be subject to the proposed regulations in public
discussions regarding those proposed regulations. This requirement is not imposed where the
state agency is required to implement federal law and regulations for which there is little or no
discretion on the part of the state to vary. Cal. Gov t Code 9 11346.45.

94. Section 11346.8 of the Californa APA states that if a public hearing is held, both oral
and written statements, arguments, or contentions, shall be permitted. If a public hearing is not
scheduled, the state agency shall aford any interested person the opportunity to present
statements, arguments or contentions in writing. The state agency shall consider all relevant
matter presented to it before adopting, amending, or repealing any regulation. In any hearing
under this section, the state agency shall have authority to administer oaths or afrmations. Cal.
Gov t Code 9 11346.45. 

95. The Notice of Public Hearing indicates that CAR' s adoption of regulations was
required to be in accordance with Chapter 3. 5 ("Administrative Regulations and Rulemaking
CaI. Health & Safety Code 9 39601. It was not required to be in accordance with Chapter 4

Administrative Hearings ), Chapter 4. 5 ("Administrative Adjudication: General Provisions ), or
Chapter 5 ("Administrative Adjudication: Formal Hearing

). 

See CaI. Gov t. Code, Part 1
Division 3.



ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Overview of the Noerr-Pennington Doctrine

The evolution of the judicially created immunity from antitrust liability under the Noerr-

Pennington doctrine begins in Eastern Railroad Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight

Inc. 365 U.S. 127 (1961). In Noerr truck operators and their trade association alleged that

railroads and their trade association conspired to restrain trade in violation of Sections 1 and 2 of

the Sherman Act by engaging in a publicity campaign against the truckers designed to foster the

adoption and retention of laws and law enforcement practices destructive of the trucking business.

Id at 129. The defendants argued that their activities could not create liability under the Sherman

Act when they were only trying to inform the public and the legislature of certain facts. The

Supreme Court agreed, noting "that where a restraint upon trade or monopolization is the result

of valid governmental action, as opposed to private action, no violation of the (Sherman) Act can

be made out." Id. at 136 (citing United States v. Rock Royal Co-op, 307 U.S. 533 (1939); Parker

v. Brown 317 U.S. 341 (1943)).

The Supreme Court based its finding of immunity from antitrust liability on two premises.

First, to hold an entity liable under antitrust laws for actions taken to infuence the passage or

enforcement of laws "would substantially impair the power of government to take actions through

its legislature and executive that operate to restrain trade. Noerr 365 U.S. at 137. The

Supreme Court explained:

In a representative democracy such as this, these branches of government
act on behalf of the people and, to a very large extent, the whole concept
of representation depends upon the ability of the people to make their
wishes known to their representatives. To hold that the governent retains
the power to act in this representative capacity and yet hold, at the same
time, that the people cannot freely inform the government of their wishes
would impute to the Sherman Act a purpose to regulate, not business
activity, but political activity, a purpose which would have no basis
whatever in the legislative history of that Act.

Id. at 137.

The second premise for immunity from antitrust liability stems from the Constitutional

right to "petition the Government for redress of grievances " U.S. Const. amend I, cl. 6. "The



right of petition is one of the freedoms protected by the Bill of Rights, and we cannot, of course

lightly impute to Congress an intent to invade these freedoms. Noerr 356 U.S. at 138. Thus

the Supreme Court held that the Sherman Act does not apply to the activities that "comprised

mere solicitation of governmental action with respect to the passage and enforcement of laws.

Id at 138.

The antitrust immunity established in Noerr for attempts to infuence governental action

was reaffrmed in United Mine Workers v. Pennington 381 U.S. 657 (1965). In Pennington the

union and large coal companies agreed upon steps to exclude the marketing, production, and sale

of non-union coal. Together they successfully approached the Secretary of Labor to obtain a

minimum wage requirement for employees of contractors sellng coal to the Tennessee Valley

Authority ("TV A"), making it diffcult for small companies to compete for TV A term contracts.

Other executive action was also sought and obtained. The Supreme Court held that the actions

seeking changes in policy or law by the government were immune from antitrust liability,

regardless of intent or purpose. Id at 670. " (The) legality of the conduct ' was not at all

affected by any anti-competitive purpose it may have had ' . . . even though the ' sole purpose in

seeking to infuence the passage and enforcement oflaws was to destroy. . . competitors. . . .

Id at 669 (citation omitted). AccordMarkAero 580 F.2d at 294 (Noerr shields from antitrust

liability a concerted effort to infuence public offcials regardless of intent or purpose.

); 

Clipper

Exxpress v. Rocky Mountain Motor Tarif Bureau, Inc. 690 F.2d 1240, 1254 (9th Cir. 1982)

Genuine efforts to induce governmental action are shielded by Noerr even if their express and

sole purpose is to stifle or eliminate competition.

In California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited 404 U.S. 508 (1972), the

Supreme Court extended the Noerr-Pennington doctrine to attempts to infuence administrative

and adjudicatory bodies. I d at 510. Lower courts have made clear that lobbying efforts designed

to infuence a state administrative agency s decision are within the ambit of the Noerr-

Pennington doctrine. Kottle 146 F. 3d at 1059; Tarabishi v. McAlester Regional Hosp. 951 F.2d

1558 1570 n. 17 (10th Cir. 1991); St. Joseph's Hosp. 795 F.2d at 955. Noerr-Pennington

immunity extends to efforts to infuence all branches of governent, including state administrative



agencies. Livingston Downs Racing Assoc. v. Jefferson Downs Corp. 192 F. Supp. 2d 519 532

(M.D. La. 2001).

B. Noerr-Pennington Provides Immunity to Conduct Alleged in the Complaint

The Supreme Court has a broad view of Noerr-Pennington immunity. "Those who

petition the government for redress are generally immune from antitrust liability. Professional

Real Estate Investors, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures Indus. , Inc. 508 U.S. 49, 56 (1993). Accord

Kottle 146 F. 3d at 1059 (The Noerr-Pennington doctrine "sweeps broadly and is implicated by

both state and federal antitrust claims that allege anticompetitive activity in the form oflobbying

or advocacy before any branch of either federal or state government."

Complaint Counsel argues that the conduct alleged in the Complaint is not immunized by

Noerr-Pennington because: (1) CAR was acting in a quasi-adjudicatory setting; (2) CAR was

dependent on Respondent for information; and (3) regardless of whether the agency s actions are

determined to be adjudicatory or legislative, there is no immunity where an agency is unaware that

it is being asked to adopt or participate in a restraint of trade. The Complaint specifically alleges:

Unocal is not shielded from antitrust liability pursuant to the Noerr-
Pennington doctrine for numerous reasons. . . including, but not limited

, the following: (i) Unocal's misrepresentations were made in the course
of quasi-adjudicative rulemaking proceedings; (ii) Unocal' s conduct did not
constitute petitioning behavior. . . .

Complaint at ~ 96.

Notwithstanding this legal conclusion contained within the factual allegations of the

Complaint, the facts alleged in the Complaint, the legislative and agency materials relating to

CAR' s rulemaking, and applicable case law demonstrate that CAR' s Phase 2 RFG rulemaking

process was a quasi-legislative proceeding and that Respondent's conduct did constitute political

petitioning behavior.

Paragraph 96 of the Complaint alleges that Respondent is not shielded from
antitrust liability for a third reason, that "Unocal' s misrepresentations and materially false and
misleading statements to Auto/Oil and WSP A, two non-governental industry groups, were not
covered by any petitioning privilege." Complaint at ~ 96. This issue is discussed at Section v.E.
infra.




